Obesity and colorectal cancer

Krasimira Aleksandrova¹, Katharina Nimptsch², Tobias Pischon²

¹Department of Epidemiology, German Institute of Human Nutrition, DifE, Potsdam-Rehbruecke, Nuthetal, Germany, ²Molecular Epidemiology Group, Max Delbrueck Center for Molecular Medicine, MDC, Berlin-Buch, Germany

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Obesity definitions
- 4. Obesity and risk of colorectal cancer
 - 4.1. General adiposity and risk of colorectal cancer
 - 4.2. Abdominal obesity and risk of colorectal cancer
- 5. Obesity during childhood and adolescence and colorectal cancer risk
- 6. Weight change and colorectal cancer
- 7. Metabolic syndrome and colorectal cancer
- 8. Pathophysiological mechanisms for the link between obesity and colorectal cancer
 - 8.1. Insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, and elevated insulin-like growth factors
 - 8.2. Chronic inflammation
 - 8.3. Hyperleptinemia
 - 8.4. Hypoadiponectinemia
 - 8.5. Other mechanisms
- 9. Obesity and colorectal cancer survival
- 10. Attributable risks for colorectal cancer associated with obesity implications for prevention
- 11. Perspective
- 12. References

1. ABSTRACT

This review outlines the association of obesity with risk of colorectal cancer and the potential underlying mechanisms from an epidemiological perspective. Current research indicates that there is a moderate but consistently reported association between general obesity (as determined by BMI) and colorectal cancer incidence and mortality. The relative risk associated with obesity is higher for cancer of the colon than for cancer of the rectum and it is higher in men than in women. By contrast, abdominal adiposity (as determined by waist circumference or waistto-hip ratio) is similarly strongly associated with colon cancer in men and women, suggesting that abdominal adiposity is a more important risk factor for colon cancer than general adiposity, at least in women. Putative mechanisms that may account for the link between and colorectal cancer risk hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance, inflammation, altered immune response, oxidative stress, as well as disturbances in insulin-like growth factors, adipokines, and sex steroids. Understanding the link between obesity and colorectal cancer may pave the way for targeted prevention of colorectal cancer morbidity and mortality.

2. INTRODUCTION

Colorectal cancer is the third most common type of cancer in men and the second most common type in women worldwide(1). For the year 2008 it was estimated that 663,000 men and 570,000 women were newly diagnosed with colorectal cancer, accounting for 10.0% and 9.4% of cancer incidence in men and women, respectively (1). There is a pronounced gradient in incidence rates between developing and developed countries, with almost 60% of the cases occurring in developed regions. Incidence rates vary 10-fold worldwide, with highest rates in Australia/New Zealand and Western Europe and lowest rates in Africa and South-Central Asia. About 608,000 deaths from colorectal cancer per year were estimated worldwide, accounting for 8% of all cancer deaths in 2008, making it the fourth most common cause of death from cancer. There is less variability in mortality rates worldwide (6-fold in men and 5-fold in women), with the highest rates estimated in Central and Eastern Europe (20.3) per 100,000 in men, 12.1 per 100,000 in women), and the lowest in Middle Africa (3.5 and 2.7, respectively) (1). The parallel of colorectal cancer disease frequency with the 'Westernization' of the countries points to the role of

Table 1. Definitions of general and abdominal obesity (based on Expert Panel, 1998) (170)¹

		Disease risk ² relative to normal weight and waist circumference	
		Men 102 cm	Men >102 cm
Classification	BMI (kg/m ²)	Women 88 cm	Women >88 cm
Underweight	<18.5	-	-
Normal	18.5-24.9	-	-
Overweight	25.0-29.9	Increased	High
Obese – Class I	30.0-34.9	High	Very high
Obese – Class II	35.0-39.9	Very high	Very high
Obese – Class III	40	Extremely high	Extremely high

Abbreviations: BMI: Body mass index. ¹ Established for non-Asian populations. The recently proposed classification for Asian populations is: BMI < 18.5, underweight; 18.5-22.9, normal weight; 23.0-24.9, overweight; 25.0-29.9, obese class I; > 30.0, obese class II 12. ² Disease risk for type 2 diabetes, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease.

environmental factors in the etiology of the disease. In support of this hypothesis, migrants tend to acquire the risk typical of the host population within one generation (2).

Excess body weight is one of the major factors that substantially contribute to the overall burden of chronic diseases and mortality worldwide (3). Accumulating evidence suggests that excess body weight also increases the risk of several types of cancer, including colorectal cancer (4). The prevalence of overweight (defined as a body mass index (BMI) between 25.0 and 29.9 kg/m²) and obesity (BMI 30 kg/m²) has increased dramatically during the last decades (5). In the EU, approximately 40-50% of men and 25-35% of women are overweight and an additional 15-25% of men and 15-25% of women are obese (6, 7). In the US, in the years 2007-2008, approximately 34.2% of adults aged 20 years and over were overweight and 33.8% were obese (8). Globally, 9.8% of the world population - 0.4 billion affected individuals were obese in the year 2005 (20.3% in economically developed countries) (9).

This review outlines the relationship of obesity with risk of colorectal cancer incidence and mortality and the underlying pathophysiology from an epidemiological perspective. In particular, this review summarizes current knowledge on the association between general and abdominal obesity, childhood obesity, weight gain, and biomarkers related to obesity, with relevance for colorectal cancer risk.

3. OBESITY DEFINITIONS

According to the World Health Organization, obesity is "a condition of abnormal or excessive fat accumulation in adipose tissue, to the extent that health may be impaired" (10). Since the 1980s, the globally accepted criteria for the definition of overweight and obesity in adults are based on BMI, calculated as weight (in kilograms) divided by height (in meters) squared (Table 1). The classification by BMI is largely based on epidemiological studies showing that BMI is correlated with fat mass and associated with morbidity and mortality. In children and adolescents, the established BMI cut-offs to define overweight and obesity are not applicable, which is largely due to the natural rapid change in stature and body composition at young ages. Therefore, age-related reference curves of BMI are used to define overweight and obesity in childhood and adolescence (10).

Although BMI is associated with a number of chronic diseases in a wide range of populations, there are a number of limitations. First, within each category of BMI there is substantial individual variation in body composition. Thus, an important drawback of BMI is the inability to distinguish between fat mass and lean mass. For example, muscular people (such as manual workers and power athletes) have a relatively high BMI, despite having relatively little body fat. Vice versa, many individuals not labeled as obese based on BMI might indeed have excess adiposity (11). Second, BMI may vary across different ethnic populations and may not be sensitive to capture associated health risks in certain populations. Ethnicspecific BMI cutoffs have been proposed and start being adopted in some regions, such as Asian countries (12). Third, BMI does not take body fat distribution into account. Viscerally deposited fat is metabolically more active and secretes greater amounts of cytokines and hormones compared with subcutaneous adipose tissue (13). Further, a higher influx of portal fatty acids, cytokines and hormones into the liver from omental adipose tissue may specifically distort hepatic metabolism, including abnormal lipoprotein synthesis, hepatic insulin resistance and increased gluconeogenesis (14). Fat distribution is gender-specific, with women having a greater amount of peripherally located subcutaneous fat and men having a greater amount of centrally located visceral fat. Body fat distribution can most easily be assessed by measurement of the waist and hip circumferences. Current guidelines suggest a waist circumference of 102 cm in men and 88 cm in women, or a waist-hip ratio of 0.95 in men and 0.80 in women, as being the cut-off points for abdominal obesity that are purportedly associated with an increased risk of morbidity (Table 1) (15, 16). Large studies have indicated that measurement of waist circumference or waist-hip ratio in addition to BMI may improve the prediction of health outcomes (17), and intensive research is still ongoing as to which variable(s) are the most accurate and precise predictors of disease risk.

Measurement of changes in BMI or waist circumference during adulthood was suggested to be more sensitive for the assessment of adiposity than static measures. Thus, attained BMI in adulthood depends on both, lean mass and fat mass; whereas, increases in body weight during adulthood mostly depend on accumulation of fat rather than lean tissue and may thus better reflect adiposity4. However, assessment of changes in BMI and waist circumference in large scale studies is usually not readily available or often depends on recalled weight.

Although studies show that there is a moderate to strong correlation between self-reported and measured past weight in the range of 0.64 to 0.95, the assessment of recalled weight may introduce measurement error or bias, and has thus been the subject of criticism (18, 19).

Several alternative diagnostic tools are available to assess body fat composition, such as measurement of (subcutaneous) skinfold by means of a caliper or ultrasound, bioelectrical impedance analysis, densitometry or imaging procedures (computerized tomography, NMR). However, most of these innovative procedures to assess body fat composition are not readily available in clinical practice and the practicality of their application in large-scale epidemiological studies is to be evaluated. In addition, it is questionable to what extent these measures add information for the prediction of health outcomes beyond BMI and waist circumference.

In summary, BMI and waist and hip circumference are currently the standard parameters to assess the degree of adiposity in adulthood. While BMI can be considered as a marker for assessment of general adiposity, waist and hip circumference – particularly when considered in addition to BMI – can be considered as markers for assessment of abdominal fat distribution.

4. OBESITY AND RISK OF COLORECTAL CANCER

4.1. General adiposity and risk of colorectal cancer

The association between general adiposity, as assessed by BMI, and risk of colorectal cancer has been examined in a number of epidemiological studies, and several systematic reviews and meta-analyses have summarized the existing evidence (Table 2). Bergström and colleagues in 2001 were the first to review the epidemiological literature and to quantitatively summarize the relationship between excess weight and the risk of several cancer types, including colorectal cancer (20). The authors identified 19 studies that reported predominantly positive associations with an average RR of colorectal cancer of 1.03 (95% CI 1.02-1.04) per 1 unit higher BMI. This association was somewhat less consistent among women compared to men. The association was confirmed by an authoritative review by the World Cancer Research Fund (WCRF) expert panel based on 60 cohort and 86 casecontrol studies4. In that review, most of the cohort studies showed a higher risk of colorectal cancer in obese compared to normal weight subjects, which was statistically significant in approximately half of these studies. In meta-analysis, a linear relationship between BMI and colorectal cancer risk was observed with a summary relative risk estimate of 1.03 (95% CI 1.02–1.04) per 1 unit higher BMI (kg/m²). When the studies were examined according to cancer site, stronger associations and more consistent results were seen for colon cancer than for rectal cancer. The most recent systematic review came from Ning et al., including 7 213 335 individuals from 56 populations with 93 812 colorectal cancer cases. Similar to the previous reviews, in that report the association of BMI with colorectal cancer was stronger for men than women, and for colon than rectal cancer (21).

Little is known as to what extent the association of obesity and colorectal cancer differs across countries or ethnicities. Such information would be helpful to tailor regional public health prevention programs that aim to reduce the incidence of colorectal cancer. Most studies and systematic reviews conducted so far have included Caucasian populations or did not specifically address differences in the association between obesity and colorectal cancer risk between countries or ethnicities. Interestingly, Matsuo and colleagues recently addressed the association of obesity and colorectal cancer in an Asian population (22). By pooling data of 8 populationbased cohort studies with ~300000 Japanese, the authors found relative risks of colorectal cancer associated with obesity that were in a range that was similar to what was found in other studies including other populations. Also, the association was again stronger in males than in females and it was stronger for colon cancer than for rectal cancer. Thus, the sex and cancer-site specific findings that were observed for Western countries showed to be replicable also for Asian populations.

4.2. Abdominal obesity and risk of colorectal cancer

The reasons for the apparent discrepancy in the association between obesity and colon cancer risk between men and women have long been unclear, and it has been suggested that one potential reason is that men and women have different body compositions. This has further inspired research efforts to look at parameters alternative to BMI to assess colorectal cancer risk. Thus, women generally have a higher percentage of body fat (healthy range of 20-25%) than men (10-15%). It is important to note that approximately 30% of fat in normal weight men can be stored in visceral area, while normal weight women have low quantities of visceral fat. Visceral fat accumulation in women starts only after considerable weight gain. The reasons for the difference in body fat distribution between men and women are largely unknown, although differences hormones. hormone receptors, and concentrations may be involved (23). Research conducted over the past decades established visceral adipose tissue as an active endocrine organ, secreting a variety of molecules (selectively named adipokines) that were shown to be involved in inflammation, coagulation, and other metabolic actions (13, 24). Abdominal obesity is closely associated with adverse metabolic profiles such as insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and systematic inflammation (24-26), which play essential roles in the pathogenesis of CVD, diabetes mellitus, and probably also for certain types of cancer. Assuming that it is primarily visceral adipose tissue and not non-visceral adipose tissue that is involved in tumorigenic processes, body weight and BMI may not accurately reflect the colon cancer risk that is associated with abdominal fat accumulation, at least in women. This hypothesis has been supported by findings from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) that have indicated that abdominal obesity (as defined by waist circumference or waist-to-hip ratio) is an equally-strong risk factor for colon cancer in men and women, whereas body weight and BMI are associated with colon cancer risk in men but not in women (27). Thus, men and women in

Table 2. Meta-analyses on association of general obesity as measured by body mass index (BMI) with risk of colon and rectal cancer

		Year	Study design	Exposure categories	Cancer endpoint	
					Colon	Rectal
					RR (95% CI) ^a	RR (95% CI) 1
1	Bergström et al.(20)	2001	2 case-control, 4 cohort	per unit increase of BMI	All colon: 1.03 (1.02, 1.04)	
2	Dai et al.(28)	2007	15 cohort studies	highest vs. lowest quantiles of BMI	Men: 1.59 (1.35, 1.86) Women: 1.22 (1.08, 1.39)	Men: 1.16 (0.93, 1.46) Women: 1.23 (0.98, 1.54)
3	Moghaddam et al(171).	2007	23 cohort, 8 case- control	BMI 30 vs. BMI <25	Men: 1.53 (1.33, 1.75) Women: 1.09 (0.93, 1.28)	Men: 1.27(1.17, 1.37) Women: 1.02 (0.85, 1.22)
4	Larsson and Wolk(148)	2007	30 cohort, 1 case- control	per 5 units increase in BMI	Men: 1.30 (1.25, 1.35) Women: 1·12 (1·07, 1.18)	Men: 1.12 (1.09, 1.16) Women: 1.03(0.99, 1.08)
5	WCRF report(4)	2007	28 cohort	per unit increase of BMI	All colorectal: 1.03 (1.02-1.04)
6	Renehan et al.(172)	2008	29 (unspecified)	per 5 units increase in BMI	Men: 1.24 (1.20, 1.28) Women: 1.09 (1.05, 1.13)	Men: 1.09 (1.06, 1.12) Women: 1.02 (1.00, 1.05)
7	Guh et al.(173)	2009	12 cohort	BMI 25 vs. BMI <25 BMI 30 vs. BMI<30	Men: 1.51 (1.37, 1.67) Women: 1.45 (1.30, 1.62) Men: 1.95 (1.59, 2.39) Women: 1.66 (1.52, 1.81)	NA
8	Harris et al.(34)	2009	29 datasets	per 5 units increase in BMI	Men: 1.24 (1.20, 1.28) Women: 1.09 (1.05, 1.13)	Men: 1.09 (1.05, 1.14) Women: 1.02 (0.99, 1.43)
9	Ning et al. (21)	2010	44 cohort, 14 case- control	BMI 30 vs. BMI <25	Men: 1.60 (1.53, 1.69) Women: 1.25 (1.12, 1.39)	Men: 1.30 (1.17, 1.43) Women: 1.14 (1.02, 1.27)
10	Matsuo et al. (22)	2011	8 cohort (Asian populations)	BMI 30 vs. BMI <30	Men: 1.67 (1.15, 2.44) Women: 1.47 (1.05, 2.06)	Men: 1.87 (1.21, 2.88) Women: 0.98 (0.95, 1.01)

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index, WCRF: World Cancer Reaserch Fund, RR: relative risk, CI: confidence interval ¹Pooled relative risk estimates from meta-regression Note: The literature search included studies published up to August, 2011.

the highest compared with the lowest gender-specific quintile of waist-to-hip ratio had a 50% higher risk of developing colon cancer over a mean follow-up period of 6 years. Several systematic reviews reported similar findings (Table 3). For example, a meta-analysis by Dai and colleagues (28) reported a pooled estimate of 1.68 (95% CI 1.36, 2.08) for the highest vs. lowest quintile of waist circumference in men and 1.48 (95% CI 1.19, 1.84) in women. The respective estimates for rectal cancer were 1.26 (95% CI 0.90, 1.77) for men and 1.23 (95% CI 0.81, 1.86) for women (Table 3). These data support the hypothesis that abdominal obesity is a risk factor for colon cancer in both sexes and suggest that fat distribution is more important than body weight or BMI for disease risk in women.

In summary, current research indicates that there is a moderate but consistently reported association between general obesity (as determined by BMI) and colorectal cancer incidence. The relative risk is greater for cancers of the colon than of the rectum and in men than in women. The sex risk differences are likely to mirror the differences in the distribution of the adipose tissue between men and women. Thus, when abdominal obesity (as determined by waist circumference or waist-to-hip ratio) was studied, the apparent sex differences were greatly reduced.

5. OBESITY DURING CHILDHOOD AND ADOLESCENCE AND COLORECTAL CANCER RISK

Obesity during childhood and adolescence poses a major public health problem worldwide through immediate and long-term adverse health outcomes such as insulin resistance, early-onset type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and dyslipidemia (29, 30). However, the impact of early life obesity on cancer risk later in life is less well studied (31, 32). Since initial steps of colorectal

carcinogenesis may occur early in life, body fatness during childhood and adolescence may be etiologically related to risk of colorectal cancer later in life. Early life obesity is associated with alterations in basal insulin levels (33), which might influence early steps in carcinogenesis (34).

The association between body fatness in early life and colorectal cancer later in life has been addressed in a few epidemiological studies with heterogeneous study designs (35-43). A recent publication of the Nurses' Health Study II reported positive associations between childhood obesity and risk of colorectal adenoma (a precursor of colorectal cancer) (41). Comparing women who were overweight at age 5 years with women with the leanest body shape at the same age, a 44% increased risk of colorectal adenoma later in life was observed, which was independent of adult body mass index (BMI). A historical cohort study found a non-significantly elevated risk of colorectal cancer later in life for children (mean age 8 years) with body fatness (RR highest versus lowest BMI quartile 1.36, 95% CI 0.57-3.24) (37). Several studies investigated the association between body fatness in young adults, mostly college or university students, and risk of colorectal cancer incidence or mortality (35, 38-40, 42, 43). The largest study of this type observed significant positive associations between BMI between the age of 14 and 19 vears and colon cancer mortality in men and women (RR 85th versus 25th-75th BMI percentile 2.1, 95% CI 1.1-4.1 in men and 2.0, 95% CI 1.2-3.5 in women) (35), and three smaller studies found positive associations between BMI during young adulthood and colorectal cancer incidence (38, 39) or death (40) in men. Two further studies observed no association between BMI at college entry and colorectal cancer incidence (43) or death from colorectal cancer (42). Many of the studies conducted to elucidate the association between early life obesity and risk of colorectal cancer later in life have substantial limitations such as low statistical power (40, 44) and lack of ability to adjust for potential

Table 3. Meta-analyses on the association of waist circumference (WC) and waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) with colon and rectal cancer

		Year	Study design	Exposure categories	Cancer endpoint	
					Colon	Rectal
					RR (95% CI) ^a	RR (95% CI) ¹
1	Dai et al.(28)	2007	15 cohort	highest vs the lowest quantile of WC highest vs the lowest quantile of WHR	Men: 1.68 (1.36, 2.08) Women: 1.48 (1.19, 1.84) Men: 1.91 (1.46, 2.49) Women: 1.49 (1.23, 1.81)	Men: 1.26 (0.90, 1.77) Women: 1.23 (0.81, 1.86) Men: 1.93 (1.19, 3.13) Women: 1.20 (0.81, 1.78)
2	Moghaddam et al.(171)	2007	8 cohort	WC<102 cm versus <94 cm; or <88 cm versus <80 cm	All colorectal: 1.50 (1.35, 1.67)	
3	Larsson and Wolk(148)	2007	5 cohort 3 cohort	per 10-cmWC increase per 0.1-unit WHR increase	Men: 1.33 (1.19, 1.49) Women: 1.16 (1.09, 1.23) Men: 1.43 (1.19, 1.71) Women: 1.20 (1.08, 1.33)	Men: 1.12 (1.03, 1.22) Women: 1.09 (0.99, 1.20) Men: 1.22 (0.81, 1.83) Women: 1.15 (0.95, 1.39)
4	Guh et al.(173)	2009	12 cohort	WC <94 cm in men or <80 cm in women vs WC 94 cm in men or 80 cm in women WC <102 cm in men or <88 cm in women vs. WC 102 cm in men or 88 cm in women	Men: 1.88 (1.47, 2.41) Women: 1.25 (0.98, 1.59) Men: 2.93 (2.31, 3.73) Women: 1.55 (1.27,1.88)	
5	WCRF report(4)	2007	4 cohort 5 cohort	per 2.5-cm WC increase per 0.1-unit WHR increase	All colorectal: 1.05 (1.03, 1.07) All colorectal: 1.30 (1.17, 1.44)	

Abbreviations: WC: waist circumference, WHR: waist to hip ratio, RR: relative risk, CI: confidence interval, WCRF: World Cancer Research Fund; ¹ Pooled relative risk estimates from meta-regression Note: The literature search included studies published up to August, 2011.

confounders (38, 39, 43). Furthermore, some studies date back to time periods before the second World war (38-40), when children in poorer families might have suffered from undernutrition, and may thus reflect different relationships than would be observed during more wealthy time periods. In summary, there is a plausible hypothesis for early life obesity to influence colorectal cancer risk, and some studies showed significant positive associations; however, more research is warranted to investigate whether obesity is a risk factor for colorectal cancer that is relevant already in early life.

6. WEIGHT CHANGE AND COLORECTAL CANCER

Most studies on obesity and colorectal cancer relied on a single measurement of BMI, which is a static indicator of obesity status. However, BMI tends to fluctuate over time and it is important to understand whether a dynamic obesity indicator such as weight change over time is also related to cancer risk. Despite extensive evidence on the link between overweight and obesity and colorectal cancer, previous studies of weight change and risk of colon adenoma and cancer showed inconsistent results (38, 45-58). In 2000, the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) reported that there is limited evidence for an association between weight change and risk of colorectal cancer (59). More recently, positive associations between adult weight gain and colon cancer risk have been reported by several cohort (53, 57, 60) and case-control studies (49, 61-63). In a recent analysis in the Health Professionals Follow-up study, the use of multiple repeated BMI measurements over time vielded considerably stronger RRs for colon cancer than the use of a

single baseline assessment (57). A case-control study in Canada reported that men who gained 21 kg after the age of 20 had a 60% higher risk for colorectal cancer than men who had gained 1-5 kg (61). The association was stronger after exclusion of rectal cancers. Although most of these studies reported only weak or null associations for women, in two other studies excessive adult weight gain among women but not men was associated with a higher risk of colon cancer (64, 65). In a recent report from the Melbourne Collaborative Cohort among 16,188 men and 23,438 women followed-up of for 14 years, adult weight change was positively associated with colon cancer risk for men (HR, 1.11 per 5-kg increment; 95% CI, 1.03-1.20), but not women (HR, 1.00; 95% CI, 0.94-1.07)60. Men who gained 20 kg from age 18 had a higher risk of colon cancer compared with men whose weight was stable. Further large population-based prospective studies are needed to shed more light on the potential effects of weight change throughout adult life on risk of colon and rectal cancer in men and in women.

7. METABOLIC SYNDROME AND COLORECTAL CANCER

Abdominal adiposity is associated with other metabolic abnormalities, such as elevated blood pressure (BP), abnormal glucose metabolism, and dyslipidaemia, which tend to cluster and increase the risk to develop cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus. This clustering of metabolic abnormalities is described as "Metabolic Syndrome" (MetS). Several international expert groups have provided unified criteria of MetS (Table 4). Recent evidence suggests that components of MetS may

Table 4. Definitions of Metabolic Syndrome

	,		Harmonized definition (2009)
Definition	NCEP/ATPIII (2005 revision) (16)	IDF (2005)(15)	(76)
Components:	Three or more of the following:		Any three of the following:
Abdominal adiposity	102 cm in men, 88 cm in women	94 cm in men, 80 cm in women (for European population) plus any 2 of the following:	94 cm in men, 80 cm in women (for European population)
Elevated TG	150 mg/dL (1.7 mmol/L)	150 mg/dL (1.7 mmol/L) or specific treatment for lipid metabolism	150 mg/dL (1.7 mmol/L) or specific treatment for lipid metabolism
Reduced HDL-C	<40 mg/dL (1.03 mmol/L) in men <50 mg/dL (1·29 mmol/L) in women	<40 mg/dL (1.03 mmol/L) in men <50 mg/dL (1.29 mmol/L) in women	<40 mg/dL (1.03 mmol/L) in men <50 mg/dL (1.29 mmol/L) in women or specific treatment for lipid metabolism
Elevated BP	systolic 130, diastolic 85 mmHg or treatment of previously diagnosed hypertension	systolic 130, diastolic 85 mmHg or treatment of previously diagnosed hypertension	systolic 130, diastolic 85 mmHg or treatment of previously diagnosed hypertension
Abnormal Glucose Metabolism	fasting glucose levels 100 mg/dl (5.6 mmol/l) or previously diagnosed type 2 diabetes	fasting glucose levels 100 mg/dl (5.6 mmol/l) or previously diagnosed type 2 diabetes	fasting glucose levels 100 mg/dl (5.6 mmol/l) or drug treatment for elevated glucose

Abbreviations: WC: waist circumference, TG: tryglyceride, BP: blood pressure, NCEP/ATPII: National Cholesterol Education Program/Adult Treatment Panel III, IDF: International Diabetes Federation

also be associated with risk of colorectal cancer (66), particularly abdominal adiposity, abnormal glucose metabolism (67), and dyslipidaemia (68). These findings supported the hypothesis that MetS may also be used to identify individuals at risk of colorectal cancer. As a result, a number of studies investigated the association between MetS and colorectal cancer, and most of them reported positive associations (69-74). However, a comparison of results of these studies is difficult because different MetS criteria were used (70, 73). It is important to note that the definitions of MetS components are based on dichotomised arbitrary cut-off points; proposed for use in clinical practice. Further, MetS is a heterogeneous condition that may reflect various combinations of metabolic abnormalities, and it is not clear whether the potential association of MetS with colorectal cancer may be accounted for by its components. The answer to this question is crucial for understanding whether complex assessment of MetS may be more useful for identifying subjects at risk of colorectal cancer compared to assessing certain MetS components. These questions were recently addressed in the EPIC cohort (75). In that study, MetS was defined according to the criteria of the National Cholesterol Education Program/Adult Treatment Panel III (NCEP/ATPIII)16, the International Diabetes Federation (15) and the 2009 harmonized definition (76). Among the five components of MetS, only abdominal obesity and abnormal glucose metabolism were associated with risk of colorectal cancer independent of the other components. Thus, although MetS was associated with colon cancer risk, this association was largely accounted for by abdominal obesity and abnormal glucose metabolism. These findings highlight the role of abdominal fatness and abnormal glucose metabolism (related to insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia) for risk of colorectal cancer.

8. POTENTIAL MECHANISMS FOR THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN OBESITY AND COLORECTAL CANCER

8.1. Insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, and elevated insulin-like growth factors

Obesity, particularly abdominal obesity is associated with insulin resistance, a state when insulin is less effective than normal in lowering blood glucose levels

(77). As a consequence, more insulin is released to the blood, resulting in chronically increased insulin levels, which has been hypothesized to be an explanatory link between obesity and colorectal cancer risk. Insulin may increase colorectal cancer risk by either direct mitogenic effects or by increasing the bioavailability of the potent mitogen insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) (78). Circulating insulin may increase the bioactivity of IGF-1 by up-regulating hepatic IGF-1 synthesis, or by reducing hepatic secretion of two IGF binding proteins (IGFBP-1 and IGFBP-2), resulting in higher free or bioactive IGF-1 levels (77, 79). The responses of insulin and IGFs are mediated by insulin receptors (IR) and IGF-1 receptors (IGF1R), both of which are widely expressed on normal tissues as well as on cancerous colorectal epithelia cells (79). There is evidence from in vitro and in vivo studies that both insulin and IGF-1 may directly influence growth of various neoplasms through stimulatory effects on cell proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis (80, 81). Furthermore, animal studies have demonstrated that restriction of energy intake is associated with reduced carcinogenesis, which may be due to reduced levels of insulin and IGF-1 as a consequence of energy restriction

The hypothesis that hyperinsulinemia may explain the positive association between obesity and colorectal cancer is supported by numerous epidemiologic studies that observed that individuals with adult type 2 diabetes mellitus (which is associated with insulin resistance and increased insulin secretion), are at increased risk of colon cancer (82). Positive associations between pre-diagnostic insulin levels and risk of colorectal cancer have been observed in a small prospective cohort study (83), whereas only non-significant positive associations were observed in a second larger study (84). Several prospective studies have observed positive associations between pre-diagnostic plasma C-peptide (which is a valid indicator of insulin secretion that has a longer half-life than insulin) and colorectal cancer risk (85-87). In the EPIC cohort, elevated serum C-peptide levels were associated with an increased risk of colorectal cancer, and, although no statistically significant interaction was observed, higher

C-peptide was more strongly associated with colorectal cancer risk in participants with high waist circumference, strengthening the hypothesis that hyperinsulinemia plays an etiologic role in the development of colorectal cancer (88). Further, in EPIC, a high percentage of glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c), a marker for hyperglycemia, was statistically significantly associated with a higher colorectal cancer risk (67). The positive association of circulating levels of insulin, C-peptide and glycosylated hemoglobin with risk of colorectal cancer was confirmed by a meta-analysis (89).

The majority of prospective studies investigating circulating IGF-1 levels in relation to colorectal cancer risk showed positive albeit mostly non-significant associations (85, 87, 90-99). For example, in EPIC, which poses so far the largest study investigating IGF-1 levels in relation to colorectal cancer risk, there was no significant association (98). A meta-analysis of 11 prospective studies including the null-finding from EPIC showed a moderately significantly increased risk of colorectal cancer, with a RR of 1.07 (95% CI 1.01-1.14) associated with one standard deviation higher IGF-1 levels (98). Very few studies examined the joint association of insulin exposure and IGF-1 concentrations. The Nurses' Health Study revealed that either high IGF-1 or high insulin exposure (represented by high plasma C-peptide) was sufficient to substantially elevate colon cancer risk, while being high in both did not additionally increase risk (99), suggesting the IGF-1 exposure may be more relevant in individuals with a lower degree of hyperinsulinemia. Taken together, serologic evidence supports the hypothesis that the positive association between obesity and colorectal cancer is at least partly explainable by hormonal changes related to hyperinsulinemia.

8.2. Chronic inflammation

Inflammation has been hypothesized to play an important role in carcinogenesis, particularly for colorectal cancer (100). This is supported by studies which have shown that individuals with chronic inflammatory bowel disease have a higher risk of colorectal cancer compared to the normal population (101-103), and that use of aspirin or other anti-inflammatory drugs is associated with a lower risk (104). Adiposity is associated with a state of chronic low-grade inflammation, characterized by increased secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) and interleukin (IL)-6, that induce hepatic secretion of acute phase proteins, including C-reactive protein (CRP) (105). Many of the 'classic' cytokines and growth factors that are synthesized and released by adipose tissue are believed to have direct pro-tumorigenic properties in the gastrointestinal tract.

Epidemiologic research suggests a modest association between biomarkers of chronic inflammation (particularly CRP) and colorectal cancer risk. A recent meta-analysis suggested that CRP concentrations are weakly positively associated with risk of colon cancer (RR = 1.1, 95% CI: 1.0–1.3) and that this relationship is stronger in men than in women, whereas no association was found for rectal cancer (106). In a large nested-case control

study within the EPIC cohort elevated concentrations of CRP were associated with a higher risk of colon cancer, but not rectal cancer, predominantly among men. Interestingly, adjustment for BMI and waist circumference, C-peptide, glycated hemoglobin, and high density lipoprotein cholesterol did not attenuate the results, suggesting that elevated CRP concentrations are related to a higher risk of colon cancer independently of obesity, insulin resistance, and dyslipidemia.

Weight loss in obese individuals has been shown to reduce the level of inflammation systemically as shown by reduced CRP levels, (107), as well as locally in the colorectal mucosal, as shown by decreased levels of inflammatory cytokines, less inflammatory cells, down-regulated inflammatory and cancer gene pathways, and reduced expression of transcription factor gene sets that are relevant for inflammation and cancer (108). These data imply that obesity is accompanied by inflammation systemically as well as in the colorectal mucosa and that diet-induced weight loss reduces this inflammatory state and may thereby lower colorectal cancer risk.

8.3. Hyperleptinemia

Leptin, a product of the obese (ob) gene, is a 16 kDa peptide hormone, expressed primarily in the adipose tissue (109). Originally discovered in 1994 as a long-term regulator of food intake and energy balance acting in the hypothalamus (110), it is today recognized that leptin has effects on energy homeostasis, neuroendocrine function, metabolism, immune function, bone metabolism, and, potentially, also on cancer (111). Leptin exerts a number of effects purportedly relevant for carcinogenesis, such as inducing tumor angiogenesis, promoting cell proliferation and migration, interacting with metabolic and growth factors, and increasing estrogen biosynthesis (112, 113). Experimental studies have shown that leptin stimulates the proliferation and invasiveness of human colon cancer cells and may be directly related to risk of colorectal cancer (114-116). Only a few epidemiological studies have investigated the relationship between leptin concentrations and colorectal cancer risk in humans (117-121) and the results provided have been inconsistent. Two prospective studies observed an association between leptin concentrations and colon cancer but not rectal cancer, which was apparent in men but not in women. Stattin and colleagues first reported that elevated concentrations of circulating leptin were associated with a higher risk for colon cancer in men, but not in women over a follow-up even after adjustment for BMI; whereas no association was seen for rectal cancer (120). Another study confirmed these results for men, reporting approximately a 3-fold higher risk of colon cancer for the highest versus the lowest levels of serum leptin concentrations over a follow-up period of 17 years (119). Conversely, another nested case-control study conducted in women only, reported that elevated leptin concentrations were associated with colorectal cancer (121). A more recent prospective study suggested that only very high levels of leptin concentrations confer a higher risk of colorectal cancer (72). These conflicting results of previous studies may partly be explained by the small study sample sizes, different measurement techniques of leptin

concentrations and potentially differential control for confounding factors. Energy balance, inflammation and insulin-signaling have been identified as contributors to the development of colon cancer and are also partly regulated by leptin. Because of these complex interrelationships it is difficult to specify whether leptin has a causative role in colorectal cancer development, or whether it is merely a marker for other risk factors (122). In addition, the effects of leptin are mediated by membrane protein receptors, which also circulate in soluble form in plasma (123-125). Leptin acts by binding to the long form of the leptin receptor (mainly in the hypothalamus) and is cleared by the short form of leptin receptor, which is mainly expressed in the kidneys. The major leptin binding protein, soluble leptin receptor (sOB-R), (126, 127) acts as a negative regulator of leptin's physiological functions (128-134) and is inversely associated with obesity (135). It has thus been proposed that the ratio of leptin to the soluble leptin receptor may be important to assess the activity of the leptin system (130, 131, 136); however, the potential role of the soluble leptin receptor for colorectal cancer risk is unknown.

8.4. Hypoadiponectinemia

Adiponectin is an adipose tissue derived hormone that – in contrast to most other adipokines – is inversely associated with body weight, insulin resistance, diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease (137, 138). Adiponectin is involved in the regulation of energy homeostasis, vascular reactivity, inflammation, cell proliferation and tissue remodeling (139, 140). Studies suggest that adiponectin may also be inversely associated with cancer, in particular with colorectal cancer, through direct mechanisms such as inhibiting cancer cell growth (141) and inducing apoptosis (142), as well as indirectly through pathways related to glucose metabolism and insulin resistance (143, 144).

Evidence on a potential link between adiponectin and colorectal cancer risk from prospective epidemiological studies is conflicting (111). In a large prospective Health Professionals Follow-up study, Wei and colleagues (145) found that plasma adiponectin levels were inversely associated with risk of colorectal cancer. Individuals in the highest adiponectin quintile had an approximately 60% reduced risk of colorectal cancer compared to the lowest quintile, independent of body mass index, waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio and physical activity (145). In contrast, the Norwegian Janus Project reported no statistically significant association between serum adiponectin and risk of colorectal in men (146).

Adiponectin consists of three domains including a signal peptide, a collagen-like motif and a globular domain. In addition, adiponectin exists in the circulation in at least two forms, low molecular weight (LMW) oligomers (i.e, hexamers, two trimers) and high molecular weight (HMW) oligomers (126, 127) consisting of four to six trimers. Although the majority of intracellular adiponectin consists of HMW oligomers, LMW oligomers are the predominant form of adiponectin in the circulation. It has recently been suggested that HMW adiponectin is the major

source of the active form of this protein (147). Therefore, the effects of adiponectin may depend on its complex quaternary structure in plasma, and HMW-adiponectin was reported to be more closely related to insulin sensitivity and risk of type 2 diabetes than the complexes with lower molecular weight (i.e., non-HMW adiponectin), suggesting that it may be the metabolically more active form (27). However, the association of HMW adiponectin with risk of colorectal cancer has not been investigated so far.

8.5. Other mechanisms

In addition to the metabolic pathways discussed above, other potential mechanisms for the association between body fatness and colorectal cancer risk have been proposed. Thus, changes in sex hormone levels associated with obesity (i.e. estrogen, testosterone) were suggested to be linked to colorectal cancer risk. For instance, differences in the association between body fatness and colorectal cancer risk between men and women may be related to sex differences in the way adiposity affects testosterone concentration (148). Furthermore, high body fatness is associated with higher endogenous estrogen levels, and a prospective study among postmenopausal women observed a significant association between high endogenous estradiol levels and higher risk of colorectal cancer (91). The positive association was unaffected by adjustment for waist circumference, insulin and free IGF-1, which led the authors to the conclusion that a pathway involving endogenous estradiol may exist that is independent of the pathway broadly associated with obesity, hyperinsulinemia and IGF-1. A second prospective study in postmenopausal women observed positive associations between endogenous estrone but not estradiol and colorectal cancer risk (149).

Alterations in the immune response, in the nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kappa B) system, in oxidative stress, and in peroxidation are alternative mechanisms that may link obesity to colorectal cancer risk (150). For example, case-control studies have shown increased blood levels of oxidative stress markers in patients with familial adenomatous polyposis and colorectal cancer (151-153). However, a recent nested case-control study in EPIC suggested that the association between oxidative stress indicators, such as reactive oxygen metabolites (ROM), and colorectal cancer risk is a result of reactive oxygen species (ROS) production by preclinical tumours, rather than a causal factor in carcinogenesis (reverse causation) (154). In this study, ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP), another marker of oxidative stress, was not associated with colorectal cancer risk. Studies with longer follow up and combined measures of reactive oxygen exposure and antioxidant status are needed to further explore the association between oxidative stress and colorectal cancer

In summary, a number of biomarkers have been identified that may reflect pathways that may be responsible for the association of obesity with risk of colorectal cancer, particularly insulin, IGF-1, inflammatory markers, as well as adipokines and sex hormones. Because biomarkers reflecting these pathways are highly interrelated it is difficult to specify the exact roles and mechanisms of

action with regards to each other. Also, current evidence relies mostly on observational studies, and, therefore, causality remains to be established. One approach to test for causality is to conduct 'Mendelian randomization' studies. This design can assess gene-related risk factors for causal association with clinical outcomes under the assumption that individuals inherit gene variants randomly from their parents. Few studies examined the association between single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) within the CRP, ADIPOQ, LEP and LEPR genes with colorectal cancer risk and results have been inconsistent (155, 156). For example, a recent study applying the Mendelian randomisation approach demonstrated that polymorphisms in the CRP gene that are associated with increased circulating levels of CRP are not associated with higher risk of cancer (157), whereas various genotype combinations of LEPR,LEP and ADIPOQ variants were shown to be associated with colorectal cancer risk (143, 147). Further research, particularly from prospective studies, is needed to investigate the role of obesity biomarkers for risk of colorectal cancer. Recent advancements of genomics and molecular epidemiology may be used to provide insights on causality of obesityrelated biomarkers and risk of colorectal cancer.

9. OBESITY AND COLORECTAL CANCER SURVIVAL

Compared with the vast amount of literature with respect to colorectal cancer incidence, there is a paucity of data about the effect of obesity on colorectal cancer recurrence and survival. After diagnosis, individuals with colorectal cancer remain at higher risk of colorectal cancer recurrence, secondary cancer, other chronic diseases, and cancer death. Their clinical outcome depends on tumor characteristics, treatment methods, but also on differences in nutritional or other lifestyle factors. A recent review summarized the evidence for the role of BMI before, at the time of, and after colorectal cancer diagnosis in colorectal cancer recurrence and survival from 21 observational studies (158). According to that review, obesity as assessed by BMI before or at time of diagnosis was shown to be associated with higher all-cause mortality, colorectal cancer-specific mortality, or recurrence, however results appeared to differ according to sex, tumor location, and molecular subtype of the tumor, and no firm conclusions can be drawn. Only two studies examined the association between waist and hip circumference and colorectal cancer survival; however both of these studies suggest that central adiposity prior to the diagnosis of colorectal cancer is associated with poorer overall and disease specific survival (158-160). Emerging evidence shows that metabolic or bariatric surgery can provide sustained weight loss and reduced obesity-related mortality (161-163). Two large cohort studies suggested that extensive weight loss after bariatric surgery reduced the risk for cancer death (164, 165). In a Canadian study, bariatric surgery resulted in a significant reduction in the mean percentage of excess weight loss (67.1%, P <.001) (166). Risk reduction was especially observed in obesity-related cancers, incl. colorectal cancer (166, 167).

10. ATTRIBUTABLE RISKS FOR COLORECTAL CANCER ASSOCIATED WITH OBESITY

It has been suggested that colorectal cancer is among the cancer sites that are most strongly affected by obesity (4). Although the relative risk of colorectal cancer associated with obesity is moderate, due to the high prevalence of overweight and obesity and the high incidence of colorectal cancer, many colorectal cancer cases may be prevented by reducing the prevalence of obesity. According to the most recent estimates from 30 European countries, 45% (15,844 cases) of new colorectal cancers are attributable to obesity (168). In the US, 35.4% colorectal cancer cases in men and 20.8% of the cases in women are estimated to be attributable to obesity (169). In Asian countries, where the prevalence of overweight and obesity is lower than in Western countries, excess colorectal cancer risk associated with a BMI over 25 kg/m² is 3.62% for men and 2.62% for women (22). It is important to note that these estimates are based on BMI. Given that BMI is probably not the best indicator of adiposity to assess colorectal cancer risk, one may speculate that the attributable risk of colorectal cancer that is due to "adiposity" is likely to be even higher.

11. PERSPECTIVE

Adiposity, and in particular abdominal adiposity, is now recognized as a major risk factor for colorectal cancer; however the mechanisms behind this association are not fully understood. Important questions to be answered refer to the most appropriate measures of adiposity in terms of cancer risk; the underlying mechanisms of the risk differences by gender and cancer site; the effects of weight-change in the life-course of individuals, as well as the interactions with other risk factors. Further observational studies in colorectal cancer survivors are warranted; in particular, on markers of abdominal adiposity in addition to general adiposity. Finally, there is a need of clear evidence on effective obesity management interventions in children and adults that take into account contemporary obesogenic environments. Such knowledge will essentially form the basis for the formulation of public-health initiatives to effectively prevent colorectal cancer morbidity and mortality.

12. REFERENCES

- 1. Ferlay J, HR Shin, F Bray, D Forman, C Mathers DM Parkin: Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. *Int J Cancer* 127, 2893-2917 (2010)
- 2. Flood DM, NS Weiss, LS Cook, JC Emerson, SM Schwartz JD Potter: Colorectal cancer incidence in Asian migrants to the United States and their descendants. *Cancer Causes Control* 11, 403-411 (2000)
- 3. Lopez AD, CD Mathers, M Ezzati, DT Jamison CJ Murray: Global and regional burden of disease and risk factors, 2001: systematic analysis of population health data. *Lancet* 367, 1747-1757 (2006)

- 4. World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer. Food, nutrition, physical activity, and the prevention of cancer: A Global Perspective. American Institute for Cancer Research, Washington, DC (2007)
- 5. Barnes AS: The epidemic of obesity and diabetes: trends and treatments. *Tex Heart Inst* J 38, 142-144 (2011)
- 6. Berghofer A, T Pischon, T Reinhold, CM Apovian, AM Sharma SN Willich: Obesity prevalence from a European perspective: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 8, 200 (2008)
- 7. Caballero B: The global epidemic of obesity: an overview. *Epidemiol Rev* 29, 1-5 (2007)
- 8. Ogden CL, MD Carroll: Prevalence of Overweight, Obesity, and Extreme Obesity Among Adults: United States, Trends 1960–1962 Through 2007–2008. (Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/overwt.htm) (2010)
- 9. Kelly T, W Yang, CS Chen, K Reynolds J He: Global burden of obesity in 2005 and projections to 2030. *Int J Obes* (Lond) 32, 1431-1437 (2008)
- 10. World Health Organization: Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. *World Health Organ Tech Rep* Ser 894, 1-253 (2000)
- 11. Okorodudu DO, MF Jumean, VM Montori, A Romero-Corral, VK Somers, PJ Erwin F Lopez-Jimenez: Diagnostic performance of body mass index to identify obesity as defined by body adiposity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 34, 791-799 (2010)
- 12. Consultation WE: Appropriate body-mass index for Asian populations and its implications for policy and intervention strategies. *Lancet* 363, 157-163 (2004)
- 13. Galic S, JS Oakhill GR Steinberg: Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 316, 129-139 (2010)
- 14. Haslam DW WP James: Obesity. *Lancet* 366, 1197-1209 (2005)
- 15. Alberti KG, P Zimmet J Shaw: The metabolic syndrome--a new worldwide definition. *Lancet* 366, 1059-1062 (2005)
- 16. Grundy SM, JI Cleeman, SR Daniels, KA Donato, RH Eckel, BA Franklin, DJ Gordon, RM Krauss, PJ Savage, SC Smith, Jr., JA Spertus F Costa: Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Scientific Statement. *Circulation* 112, 2735-2752 (2005)
- 17. Pischon T, H Boeing, K Hoffmann, M Bergmann, MB Schulze, K Overvad, YT van der Schouw, E Spencer, KG Moons, A Tjonneland, J Halkjaer, MK Jensen, J Stegger, F Clavel-Chapelon, MC Boutron-Ruault, V Chajes, J

- Linseisen, R Kaaks, A Trichopoulou, D Trichopoulos, C Bamia, S Sieri, D Palli, R Tumino, P Vineis, S Panico, PH Peeters, AM May, HB Bueno-de-Mesquita, FJ van Duijnhoven, G Hallmans, L Weinehall, J Manjer, B Hedblad, E Lund, A Agudo, L Arriola, A Barricarte, C Navarro, C Martinez, JR Quiros, T Key, S Bingham, KT Khaw, P Boffetta, M Jenab, P Ferrari E Riboli: General and abdominal adiposity and risk of death in Europe. *N Engl J Med* 359, 2105-2120 (2008)
- 18. Casey VA, JT Dwyer, CS Berkey, KA Coleman, J Gardner I Valadian: Long-term memory of body weight and past weight satisfaction: a longitudinal follow-up study. *Am J Clin Nutr* 53, 1493-1498 (1991)
- 19. Perry GS, TE Byers, AH Mokdad, MK Serdula DF Williamson: The validity of self-reports of past body weights by U.S. adults. *Epidemiology* 6, 61-66 (1995)
- 20. Bergstrom A, P Pisani, V Tenet, A Wolk HO Adami: Overweight as an avoidable cause of cancer in Europe. *Int J Cancer* 91, 421-430 (2001)
- 21. Ning Y, L Wang EL Giovannucci: A quantitative analysis of body mass index and colorectal cancer: findings from 56 observational studies. *Obes Rev* (2009)
- 22. Matsuo K, T Mizoue, K Tanaka, I Tsuji, Y Sugawara, S Sasazuki, C Nagata, A Tamakoshi, K Wakai, M Inoue S Tsugane: Association between body mass index and the colorectal cancer risk in Japan: pooled analysis of population-based cohort studies in Japan. *Ann Oncol* (2011)
- 23. Nedungadi TP DJ Clegg: Sexual dimorphism in body fat distribution and risk for cardiovascular diseases. *J Cardiovasc Transl Res* 2, 321-327 (2009)
- 24. Wajchenberg BL, M Nery, MR Cunha ME Silva: Adipose tissue at the crossroads in the development of the metabolic syndrome, inflammation and atherosclerosis. *Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol* 53, 145-150 (2009)
- 25. Kershaw EE JS Flier: Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 89, 2548-2556 (2004)
- 26. Wajchenberg BL: Subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue: their relation to the metabolic syndrome. *Endocr Rev* 21, 697-738 (2000)
- 27. Pischon T, PH Lahmann, H Boeing, C Friedenreich, T Norat, A Tjonneland, J Halkjaer, K Overvad, F Clavel-Chapelon, MC Boutron-Ruault, G Guernec, MM Bergmann, J Linseisen, N Becker, A Trichopoulou, D Trichopoulos, S Sieri, D Palli, R Tumino, P Vineis, S Panico, PH Peeters, HB Bueno-de-Mesquita, HC Boshuizen, B Van Guelpen, R Palmqvist, G Berglund, CA Gonzalez, M Dorronsoro, A Barricarte, C Navarro, C Martinez, JR Quiros, A Roddam, N Allen, S Bingham, KT Khaw, P Ferrari, R Kaaks, N Slimani E Riboli: Body size and risk of colon and rectal cancer in the European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). J Natl Cancer Inst 98, 920-931 (2006)

- 28. Dai Z, YC Xu L Niu: Obesity and colorectal cancer risk: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. *World J Gastroenterol* 13, 4199-4206 (2007)
- 29. Cali AM S Caprio: Obesity in children and adolescents. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 93, S31-36 (2008)
- 30. Lee WW: An overview of pediatric obesity. *Pediatric diabetes* 8 Suppl 9, 76-87 (2007)
- 31. Uauy R N Solomons: Diet, nutrition, and the life-course approach to cancer prevention. *J. Nutr.* 135, 2934S-2945S (2005)
- 32. Wei EK, KY Wolin GA Colditz: Time course of risk factors in cancer etiology and progression. *J Clin Oncol* 28, 4052-4057 (2010)
- 33. Caprio S, LD Hyman, C Limb, S McCarthy, R Lange, RS Sherwin, G Shulman WV Tamborlane: Central adiposity and its metabolic correlates in obese adolescent girls. *Am J Physiol* 269, E118-126 (1995)
- 34. Harriss DJ, G Atkinson, K George, NT Cable, T Reilly, N Haboubi, M Zwahlen, M Egger AG Renehan: Lifestyle factors and colorectal cancer risk (1): systematic review and meta-analysis of associations with body mass index. *Colorectal Dis* 11, 547-563 (2009)
- 35. Bjorge T, A Engeland, A Tverdal GD Smith: Body mass index in adolescence in relation to cause-specific mortality: a follow-up of 230,000 Norwegian adolescents. *Am J Epidemiol* 168, 30-37 (2008)
- 36. Burton A, R Martin, B Galobardes, G Davey Smith M Jeffreys: Young adulthood body mass index and risk of cancer in later adulthood: historical cohort study. *Cancer Causes Control* (2010)
- 37. Jeffreys M, GD Smith, RM Martin, S Frankel D Gunnell: Childhood body mass index and later cancer risk: a 50-year follow-up of the Boyd Orr study. *Int J Cancer* 112, 348-351 (2004)
- 38. Le Marchand L, LR Wilkens MP Mi: Obesity in youth and middle age and risk of colorectal cancer in men. *Cancer Causes Control* 3, 349-354 (1992)
- 39. Lee IM RS Paffenbarger, Jr.: Quetelet's index and risk of colon cancer in college alumni. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 84, 1326-1331 (1992)
- 40. Must A, PF Jacques, GE Dallal, CJ Bajema WH Dietz: Long-term morbidity and mortality of overweight adolescents. A follow-up of the Harvard Growth Study of 1922 to 1935. *N Engl J Med* 327, 1350-1355 (1992)
- 41. Nimptsch K, EL Giovannucci, WC Willett, C Fuchs, EK Wei K Wu: Body fatness during childhood and adolescence, adult height and risk of colorectal adenoma in women. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)* (2011)

- 42. Okasha M, P McCarron, J McEwen GD Smith: Body mass index in young adulthood and cancer mortality: a retrospective cohort study. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 56, 780-784 (2002)
- 43. Whittemore AS, RS Paffenbarger, Jr., K Anderson JE Lee: Early precursors of site-specific cancers in college men and women. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 74, 43-51 (1985)
- 44. Jeffreys M, P McCarron, D Gunnell, J McEwen GD Smith: Body mass index in early and mid-adulthood, and subsequent mortality: a historical cohort study. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 27, 1391-1397 (2003)
- 45. Colditz GA E Coakley: Weight, weight gain, activity, and major illnesses: the Nurses' Health Study. *Int J Sports Med* 18 Suppl 3, S162-170 (1997)
- 46. Dietz AT, PA Newcomb, PM Marcus BE Storer: The association of body size and large bowel cancer risk in Wisconsin (United States) women. *Cancer Causes Control* 6, 30-36 (1995)
- 47. French SA, AR Folsom, RW Jeffery, W Zheng, PJ Mink JE Baxter: Weight variability and incident disease in older women: the Iowa Women's Health Study. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 21, 217-223 (1997)
- 48. Giovannucci E, GA Colditz, MJ Stampfer WC Willett: Physical activity, obesity, and risk of colorectal adenoma in women (United States). *Cancer Causes Control* 7, 253-263 (1996)
- 49. Kono S, K Handa, H Hayabuchi, C Kiyohara, H Inoue, T Marugame, S Shinomiya, H Hamada, K Onuma H Koga: Obesity, weight gain and risk of colon adenomas in Japanese men. *Jpn J Cancer Res* 90, 805-811 (1999)
- 50. Laake I, I Thune, R Selmer, S Tretli, ML Slattery MB Veierod: A prospective study of body mass index, weight change, and risk of cancer in the proximal and distal colon. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 19, 1511-1522 (2010)
- 51. Lubin F, P Rozen, B Arieli, M Farbstein, Y Knaani, L Bat H Farbstein: Nutritional and lifestyle habits and waterfiber interaction in colorectal adenoma etiology. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 6, 79-85 (1997)
- 52. Martinez ME, E Giovannucci, D Spiegelman, DJ Hunter, WC Willett GA Colditz: Leisure-time physical activity, body size, and colon cancer in women. Nurses' Health Study Research Group. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 89, 948-955 (1997)
- 53. Nomura A, LK Heilbrun GN Stemmermann: Body mass index as a predictor of cancer in men. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 74, 319-323 (1985)
- 54. Oxentenko AS, A Bardia, RA Vierkant, AH Wang, KE Anderson, PT Campbell, TA Sellers, AR Folsom, JR Cerhan PJ Limburg: Body size and incident colorectal

- cancer: a prospective study of older women. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) 3, 1608-1620 (2010)
- 55. Parker ED AR Folsom: Intentional weight loss and incidence of obesity-related cancers: the Iowa Women's Health Study. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 27, 1447-1452 (2003)
- 56. Sedjo RL, T Byers, TR Levin, SM Haffner, MF Saad, JA Tooze RB D'Agostino, Jr.: Change in body size and the risk of colorectal adenomas. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 16, 526-531 (2007)
- 57. Thygesen LC, M Gronbaek, C Johansen, CS Fuchs, WC Willett E Giovannucci: Prospective weight change and colon cancer risk in male US health professionals. *Int J Cancer* 123, 1160-1165 (2008)
- 58. Yamaji Y, M Okamoto, H Yoshida, T Kawabe, R Wada, T Mitsushima M Omata: The effect of body weight reduction on the incidence of colorectal adenoma. *Am J Gastroenterol.* 103, 2061-2067 (2008)
- 59. International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). Weight control and physical activity. In: IARC handbooks of cancer prevention, vol 6. IARC Press, Lyon, France (2002)
- 60. Bassett JK, G Severi, DR English, L Baglietto, K Krishnan, JL Hopper GG Giles: Body size, weight change, and risk of colon cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 19, 2978-2986 (2010)
- 61. Campbell PT, M Cotterchio, E Dicks, P Parfrey, S Gallinger JR McLaughlin: Excess body weight and colorectal cancer risk in Canada: associations in subgroups of clinically defined familial risk of cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 16, 1735-1744 (2007)
- 62. Le Marchand L, LR Wilkens, LN Kolonel, JH Hankin LC Lyu: Associations of sedentary lifestyle, obesity, smoking, alcohol use, and diabetes with the risk of colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res* 57, 4787-4794 (1997)
- 63. Campbell PT, ET Jacobs, CM Ulrich, JC Figueiredo, JN Poynter, JR McLaughlin, RW Haile, EJ Jacobs, PA Newcomb, JD Potter, L Le Marchand, RC Green, P Parfrey, HB Younghusband, M Cotterchio, S Gallinger, MA Jenkins, JL Hopper, JA Baron, SN Thibodeau, NM Lindor, PJ Limburg ME Martinez: Case-control study of overweight, obesity, and colorectal cancer risk, overall and by tumor microsatellite instability status. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 102, 391-400 (2010)
- 64. Tamakoshi K, K Wakai, M Kojima, Y Watanabe, N Hayakawa, H Toyoshima, H Yatsuya, T Kondo, S Tokudome, S Hashimoto, K Suzuki, Y Ito A Tamakoshi: A prospective study of body size and colon cancer mortality in Japan: The JACC Study. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 28, 551-558 (2004)
- 65. Nock NL, CL Thompson, TC Tucker, NA Berger L Li: Associations between obesity and changes in adult BMI

- over time and colon cancer risk. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 16, 1099-1104 (2008)
- 66. Giovannucci E: Metabolic syndrome, hyperinsulinemia, and colon cancer: a review. *Am J Clin Nutr* 86, s836-842 (2007)
- 67. Rinaldi S, S Rohrmann, M Jenab, C Biessy, S Sieri, D Palli, R Tumino, A Mattiello, P Vineis, A Nieters, J Linseisen, T Pischon, H Boeing, G Hallmans, R Palmqvist, J Manjer, E Wirfalt, FL Crowe, KT Khaw, S Bingham, A Tjonneland, A Olsen, K Overvad, E Lund, G Skeie, F Clavel-Chapelon, MC Boutron-Ruault, B de Lauzon-Guillain, E Ardanaz, P Jakszyn, J Ramon Quiros, MD Chirlaque, MJ Sanchez, M Dorronsoro, A Trichopoulou, P Lagiou, D Trichopoulos, HB Bueno-de-Mesquita, FJ van Duijnhoven, PH Peeters, N Slimani, P Ferrari, GB Byrnes, E Riboli R Kaaks: Glycosylated hemoglobin and risk of colorectal cancer in men and women, the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 17, 3108-3115 (2008)
- 68.van Duijnhoven FJ, HB Bueno-De-Mesquita, M Calligaro, M Jenab, T Pischon, EH Jansen, J Frohlich, A Ayyobi, K Overvad, AP Toft-Petersen, A Tjonneland, L Hansen, MC Boutron-Ruault, F Clavel-Chapelon, V Cottet, D Palli, G Tagliabue, S Panico, R Tumino, P Vineis, R Kaaks, B Teucher, H Boeing, D Drogan, A Trichopoulou, P Lagiou, V Dilis, PH Peeters, PD Siersema, L Rodriguez, CA Gonzalez, E Molina-Montes, M Dorronsoro, MJ Tormo, A Barricarte, R Palmqvist, G Hallmans, KT Khaw, KK Tsilidis, FL Crowe, V Chajes, V Fedirko, S Rinaldi, T Norat E Riboli: Blood lipid and lipoprotein concentrations and colorectal cancer risk in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. *Gut* 60, 1094-1102 (2011)
- 69. Ahmed RL, KH Schmitz, KE Anderson, WD Rosamond AR Folsom: The metabolic syndrome and risk of incident colorectal cancer. *Cancer* 107, 28-36 (2006)
- 70. Bowers K AD, Limburg P, Pietinen P, Taylor PR, Virtamo J e al.: A prospective study of anthropometric and clinical measurements associated with insulin resistance syndrome and colorectal cancer in male smokers. *Am J Epidemiol* 164, 652–664. (2006)
- 71. Colangelo LA GS, Gann PH, Dyer AR, Liu K.: Colorectal cancer mortality and factors related to the insulin resistance syndrome. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 11, 385–391 (2002)
- 72. Stocks T, A Lukanova, M Johansson, S Rinaldi, R Palmqvist, G Hallmans, R Kaaks P Stattin: Components of the metabolic syndrome and colorectal cancer risk; a prospective study. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 32, 304-314 (2008)
- 73. Stürmer T BJ, Lee IM, Gaziano JM, Glynn RJ.: Metabolic abnormalities and risk for colorectal cancer in the Physicians'Health Study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 15, 2391–2397 (2006)

- 74. Trevisan M, J Liu, P Muti, G Misciagna, A Menotti F Fucci: Markers of insulin resistance and colorectal cancer mortality. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 10, 937-941 (2001)
- 75. Aleksandrova K, H Boeing, M Jenab, HB Bueno-de-Mesquita, E Jansen, F van Duijnhoven, V Fedirko, S Rinaldi, I Romieu, E Riboli, D Romaguera, KK Overvad, JN Ostergaard, A Olsen, AA Tjonneland, MC Boutron-Ruault, F Clavel-Chapelon, S Morois, G Masala, C Agnoli, S Panico, R Tumino, P Vineis, R Kaaks, A Lukanova, A Trichopoulou, A Naska, C Bamia, PH Peeters, L Rodriguez, G Buckland, MJ Sanchez, M Dorronsoro, JM Huerta, A Barricarte Gurrea, G Hallmans, R Palmqvist, KT Khaw, NJ Wareham, NE Allen, KK Tsilidis T Pischon: Metabolic Syndrome and Risks of Colon and Rectal Cancer: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition Study. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)* (2011)
- 76. Alberti KG, RH Eckel, SM Grundy, PZ Zimmet, JI Cleeman, KA Donato, JC Fruchart, WP James, CM Loria SC Smith, Jr.: Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. *Circulation* 120, 1640-1645 (2009)
- 77. Kaaks R A Lukanova: Energy balance and cancer: the role of insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I. *Proc Nutr Soc* 60, 91-106 (2001)
- 78. Kaaks R: Nutrition, insulin, IGF-1 metabolism and cancer risk: a summary of epidemiological evidence. *Novartis Foundation symposium* 262, 247-260; discussion 260-268 (2004)
- 79. Pollak M: Insulin and insulin-like growth factor signalling in neoplasia. *Nature reviews* 8, 915-928 (2008)
- 80. Giovannucci E: Insulin, insulin-like growth factors and colon cancer: a review of the evidence. *J Nutr* 131, 3109S-3120S (2001)
- 81. Pollak M, W Beamer JC Zhang: Insulin-like growth factors and prostate cancer. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* 17, 383-390 (1998)
- 82. Larsson SC, N Orsini A Wolk: Diabetes mellitus and risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 97, 1679-1687 (2005)
- 83. Schoen RE, CM Tangen, LH Kuller, GL Burke, M Cushman, RP Tracy, A Dobs PJ Savage: Increased blood glucose and insulin, body size, and incident colorectal cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 91, 1147-1154 (1999)
- 84. Palmqvist R, P Stattin, S Rinaldi, C Biessy, R Stenling, E Riboli, G Hallmans R Kaaks: Plasma insulin, IGF-binding proteins-1 and -2 and risk of colorectal cancer: a prospective study in northern Sweden. *Int J Cancer* 107, 89-93 (2003)

- 85. Kaaks R, P Toniolo, A Akhmedkhanov, A Lukanova, C Biessy, H Dechaud, S Rinaldi, A Zeleniuch-Jacquotte, RE Shore E Riboli: Serum C-peptide, insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I, IGF-binding proteins, and colorectal cancer risk in women. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 92, 1592-1600 (2000)
- 86. Ma J, E Giovannucci, M Pollak, A Leavitt, Y Tao, JM Gaziano MJ Stampfer: A prospective study of plasma C-peptide and colorectal cancer risk in men. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 96, 546-553 (2004)
- 87. Palmqvist R, G Hallmans, S Rinaldi, C Biessy, R Stenling, E Riboli R Kaaks: Plasma insulin-like growth factor 1, insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3, and risk of colorectal cancer: a prospective study in northern Sweden. *Gut* 50, 642-646 (2002)
- 88. Jenab M, E Riboli, RJ Cleveland, T Norat, S Rinaldi, A Nieters, C Biessy, A Tjonneland, A Olsen, K Overvad, H Gronbaek, F Clavel-Chapelon, MC Boutron-Ruault, J Linseisen, H Boeing, T Pischon, D Trichopoulos, E Oikonomou, A Trichopoulou, S Panico, P Vineis, F Berrino, R Tumino, G Masala, PH Peters, CH van Gils, HB Bueno-de-Mesquita, MC Ocke, E Lund, MA Mendez, MJ Tormo, A Barricarte, C Martinez-Garcia, M Dorronsoro, JR Quiros, G Hallmans, R Palmqvist, G Berglund, J Manjer, T Key, NE Allen, S Bingham, KT Khaw, A Cust R Kaaks: Serum C-peptide, IGFBP-1 and IGFBP-2 and risk of colon and rectal cancers in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. *Int J Cancer* (2007)
- 89. Pisani P: Hyper-insulinaemia and cancer, meta-analyses of epidemiological studies. *Arch Physiol Biochem* 114, 63-70 (2008)
- 90. Giovannucci E, MN Pollak, EA Platz, WC Willett, MJ Stampfer, N Majeed, GA Colditz, FE Speizer SE Hankinson: A prospective study of plasma insulin-like growth factor-1 and binding protein-3 and risk of colorectal neoplasia in women. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 9, 345-349 (2000)
- 91. Gunter MJ, DR Hoover, H Yu, S Wassertheil-Smoller, TE Rohan, JE Manson, BV Howard, J Wylie-Rosett, GL Anderson, GY Ho, RC Kaplan, J Li, X Xue, TG Harris, RD Burk HD Strickler: Insulin, insulin-like growth factor-I, endogenous estradiol, and risk of colorectal cancer in postmenopausal women. *Cancer research* 68, 329-337 (2008)
- 92. Ma J, MN Pollak, E Giovannucci, JM Chan, Y Tao, CH Hennekens MJ Stampfer: Prospective study of colorectal cancer risk in men and plasma levels of insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I and IGF-binding protein-3. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 91, 620-625 (1999)
- 93. Max JB, PJ Limburg, A Ogunseitan, RZ Stolzenberg-Solomon, RA Vierkant, MJ Pollak, TA Sellers, J Virtamo, JR Cerhan D Albanes: IGF-I, IGFBP-3, and IGF-I/IGFBP-3 ratio: no association with incident colorectal cancer in the Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta-Carotene Cancer Prevention

- Study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 17, 1832-1834 (2008)
- 94. Morris JK, LM George, T Wu NJ Wald: Insulin-like growth factors and cancer: no role in screening. Evidence from the BUPA study and meta-analysis of prospective epidemiological studies. *Br J Cancer* 95, 112-117 (2006)
- 95. Nomura AM, GN Stemmermann, J Lee MN Pollak: Serum insulin-like growth factor I and subsequent risk of colorectal cancer among Japanese-American men. *Am J Epidemiol* 158, 424-431 (2003)
- 96. Otani T, M Iwasaki, S Sasazuki, M Inoue S Tsugane: Plasma C-peptide, insulin-like growth factor-I, insulin-like growth factor binding proteins and risk of colorectal cancer in a nested case-control study: the Japan public health center-based prospective study. *Int J Cancer* 120, 2007-2012 (2007)
- 97. Probst-Hensch NM, JM Yuan, FZ Stanczyk, YT Gao, RK Ross MC Yu: IGF-1, IGF-2 and IGFBP-3 in prediagnostic serum: association with colorectal cancer in a cohort of Chinese men in Shanghai. *Br J Cancer* 85, 1695-1699 (2001)
- 98. Rinaldi S, R Cleveland, T Norat, C Biessy, S Rohrmann, J Linseisen, H Boeing, T Pischon, S Panico, C Agnoli, D Palli, R Tumino, P Vineis, PH Peeters, CH van Gils, BH Bueno-de-Mesquita, A Vrieling, NE Allen, A Roddam, S Bingham, KT Khaw, J Manjer, S Borgquist, V Dumeaux, I Torhild Gram, E Lund, A Trichopoulou, G Makrygiannis, V Benetou, E Molina, I Donate Suarez, A Barricarte Gurrea, CA Gonzalez, MJ Tormo, JM Altzibar, A Olsen, A Tjonneland, H Gronbaek, K Overvad, F Clavel-Chapelon, MC Boutron-Ruault, S Morois, N Slimani, P Boffetta, M Jenab, E Riboli R Kaaks: Serum levels of IGF-I, IGFBP-3 and colorectal cancer risk: results from the EPIC cohort, plus a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Int J Cancer* 126, 1702-1715 (2010)
- 99. Wei EK, J Ma, MN Pollak, N Rifai, CS Fuchs, SE Hankinson E Giovannucci: A prospective study of C-peptide, insulin-like growth factor-I, insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1, and the risk of colorectal cancer in women. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 14, 850-855 (2005)
- 100. Coussens LM Z Werb: Inflammation and cancer. *Nature* 420, 860-867. (2002)
- 101. Canavan C, KR Abrams J Mayberry: Meta-analysis: colorectal and small bowel cancer risk in patients with Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 23, 1097-1104 (2006)
- 102. Eaden JA, KR Abrams JF Mayberry: The risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: a meta-analysis. *Gut* 48, 526-535 (2001)
- 103. Jess T, M Gamborg, P Matzen, P Munkholm TI Sorensen: Increased risk of intestinal cancer in Crohn's

- disease: a meta-analysis of population-based cohort studies. *Am J Gastroenterol* 100, 2724-2729 (2005)
- 104. Cole BF, RF Logan, S Halabi, R Benamouzig, RS Sandler, MJ Grainge, S Chaussade JA Baron: Aspirin for the chemoprevention of colorectal adenomas: meta-analysis of the randomized trials. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 101, 256-266 (2009)
- 105. Roberts DL, C Dive AG Renehan: Biological mechanisms linking obesity and cancer risk: new perspectives. *Annu Rev Med* 61, 301-316 (2010)
- 106. Tsilidis KK, C Branchini, E Guallar, KJ Helzlsouer, TP Erlinger EA Platz: C-reactive protein and colorectal cancer risk: a systematic review of prospective studies. *Int J Cancer* 123, 1133-1140 (2008)
- 107. Esposito K, A Pontillo, C Di Palo, G Giugliano, M Masella, R Marfella D Giugliano: Effect of weight loss and lifestyle changes on vascular inflammatory markers in obese women: a randomized trial. *J Am Med Assoc* 289, 1799-1804. (2003)
- 108. Pendyala S, LM Neff, M Suarez-Farinas PR Holt: Diet-induced weight loss reduces colorectal inflammation: implications for colorectal carcinogenesis. *Am J Clin Nutr* 93, 234-242 (2011)
- 109. Bell L, R Considine. Leptin and Obesity. In: Leptin. Eds: Castracane VD, Henson MC, Springer, New York (2006)
- 110. Zhang Y, R Proenca, M Maffei, M Barone, L Leopold JM Friedman: Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature* 372, 425-432. (1994)
- 111. Kelesidis T, I Kelesidis, S Chou CS Mantzoros: Narrative review: the role of leptin in human physiology: emerging clinical applications. *Ann Intern Med* 152, 93-100 (2010)
- 112. Garofalo C E Surmacz: Leptin and cancer. *J Cell Physiol* 207, 12-22 (2006)
- 113. Houseknecht KL, CA Baile, RL Matteri ME Spurlock: The biology of leptin: a review. *J Anim Sci* 76, 1405-1420 (1998)
- 114. Hardwick JC, GR Van Den Brink, GJ Offerhaus, SJ Van Deventer MP Peppelenbosch: Leptin is a growth factor for colonic epithelial cells. *Gastroenterology* 121, 79-90 (2001)
- 115. Hoda MR, SJ Keely, LS Bertelsen, WG Junger, D Dharmasena KE Barrett: Leptin acts as a mitogenic and antiapoptotic factor for colonic cancer cells. *Br J Surg* 94, 346-354 (2007)
- 116. Uchiyama T, H Takahashi, M Sugiyama, E Sakai, H Endo, K Hosono, K Yoneda, M Yoneda, M Inamori, Y Nagashima, Y Inayama, K Wada A Nakajima: Leptin

- receptor is involved in STAT3 activation in human colorectal adenoma. *Cancer Sci* 102, 367-372 (2011)
- 117. Chia VM, PA Newcomb, JW Lampe, E White, MT Mandelson, A McTiernan JD Potter: Leptin concentrations, leptin receptor polymorphisms, and colorectal adenoma risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 16, 2697-2703 (2007)
- 118. Nakajima TE, Y Yamada, T Hamano, K Furuta, T Matsuda, S Fujita, K Kato, T Hamaguchi Y Shimada: Adipocytokines as new promising markers of colorectal tumors: adiponectin for colorectal adenoma, and resistin and visfatin for colorectal cancer. *Cancer Sci* 101, 1286-1291 (2010)
- 119. Stattin P, A Lukanova, C Biessy, S Soderberg, R Palmqvist, R Kaaks, T Olsson E Jellum: Obesity and colon cancer: does leptin provide a link? *Int J Cancer* 109, 149-152 (2004)
- 120. Stattin P, R Palmqvist, S Soderberg, C Biessy, B Ardnor, G Hallmans, R Kaaks T Olsson: Plasma leptin and colorectal cancer risk: a prospective study in Northern Sweden. *Oncol Rep* 10, 2015-2021 (2003)
- 121. Tamakoshi K, H Toyoshima, K Wakai, M Kojima, K Suzuki, Y Watanabe, N Hayakawa, H Yatsuya, T Kondo, S Tokudome, S Hashimoto, S Suzuki, M Kawado, K Ozasa, Y Ito A Tamakoshi: Leptin is associated with an increased female colorectal cancer risk: a nested case-control study in Japan. *Oncology* 68, 454-461 (2005)
- 122. Slattery ML RK Wolff: Leptin and colorectal cancer: an undefined link. *Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol* 4, 118-119 (2007)
- 123. Huang L, Z Wang C Li: Modulation of circulating leptin levels by its soluble receptor. *J Biol Chem* 276, 6343-6349 (2001)
- 124. Liu C, XJ Liu, G Barry, N Ling, RA Maki EB De Souza: Expression and characterization of a putative high affinity human soluble leptin receptor. *Endocrinology* 138, 3548-3554 (1997)
- 125. Sinha MK, I Opentanova, JP Ohannesian, JW Kolaczynski, ML Heiman, J Hale, GW Becker, RR Bowsher, TW Stephens JF Caro: Evidence of free and bound leptin in human circulation. Studies in lean and obese subjects and during short-term fasting. *J Clin Invest* 98, 1277-1282 (1996)
- 126. Chan JL, S Bluher, N Yiannakouris, MA Suchard, J Kratzsch CS Mantzoros: Regulation of circulating soluble leptin receptor levels by gender, adiposity, sex steroids, and leptin: observational and interventional studies in humans. *Diabetes* 51, 2105-2112 (2002)
- 127. Lammert A, W Kiess, A Bottner, A Glasow J Kratzsch: Soluble leptin receptor represents the main leptin binding activity in human blood. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 283, 982-988 (2001)

- 128. Hamnvik OP, X Liu, M Petrou, H Gong, JP Chamberland, EH Kim, CA Christophi, SN Kales, DC Christiani CS Mantzoros: Soluble leptin receptor and leptin are associated with baseline adiposity and metabolic risk factors, and predict adiposity, metabolic syndrome, and glucose levels at 2-year follow-up: the Cyprus Metabolism Prospective Cohort Study. *Metabolism* 60, 987-993 (2011)
- 129. Laimer M, CF Ebenbichler, S Kaser, A Sandhofer, H Weiss, H Nehoda, F Aigner JR Patsch: Weight loss increases soluble leptin receptor levels and the soluble receptor bound fraction of leptin. *Obes Res* 10, 597-601 (2002)
- 130. Owecki M, E Nikisch, A Miczke, D Pupek-Musialik J Sowinski: Free leptin index as a marker for leptin action in diabetes and obesity: leptin and soluble leptin receptors relationship with HbA1c. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* 31, 679-683 (2010)
- 131. Owecki M, E Nikisch, A Miczke, D Pupek-Musialik J Sowinski: Leptin, soluble leptin receptors, free leptin index, and their relationship with insulin resistance and BMI: high normal BMI is the threshold for serum leptin increase in humans. *Horm Metab Res* 42, 585-589 (2010)
- 132. Reinehr T, J Kratzsch, W Kiess W Andler: Circulating soluble leptin receptor, leptin, and insulin resistance before and after weight loss in obese children. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 29, 1230-1235 (2005)
- 133. van Dielen FM, C van 't Veer, WA Buurman JW Greve: Leptin and soluble leptin receptor levels in obese and weightlosing individuals. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 87, 1708-1716 (2002)
- 134. Wolfe BE, DC Jimerson, C Orlova CS Mantzoros: Effect of dieting on plasma leptin, soluble leptin receptor, adiponectin and resistin levels in healthy volunteers. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 61, 332-338 (2004)
- 135. Magni P, A Liuzzi, M Ruscica, E Dozio, S Ferrario, I Bussi, A Minocci, A Castagna, M Motta G Savia: Free and bound plasma leptin in normal weight and obese men and women: relationship with body composition, resting energy expenditure, insulin-sensitivity, lipid profile and macronutrient preference. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 62, 189-196 (2005)
- 136. Yannakoulia M, N Yiannakouris, S Bluher, AL Matalas, D Klimis-Zacas CS Mantzoros: Body fat mass and macronutrient intake in relation to circulating soluble leptin receptor, free leptin index, adiponectin, and resistin concentrations in healthy humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88, 1730-1736. (2003)
- 137. Li S, HJ Shin, EL Ding RM van Dam: Adiponectin levels and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Med Assoc* 302, 179-188 (2009)
- 138. Chandran M, SA Phillips, T Ciaraldi RR Henry: Adiponectin: more than just another fat cell hormone? *Diabetes Care* 26, 2442-2450 (2003)

- 139. Gunter MJ MF Leitzmann: Obesity and colorectal cancer: epidemiology, mechanisms and candidate genes. *J Nutr Biochem* 17, 145-156 (2006)
- 140. Brochu-Gaudreau K, C Rehfeldt, R Blouin, V Bordignon, BD Murphy MF Palin: Adiponectin action from head to toe. *Endocrine* 37, 11-32 (2010)
- 141. Kim AY, YS Lee, KH Kim, JH Lee, HK Lee, SH Jang, SE Kim, GY Lee, JW Lee, SA Jung, HY Chung, S Jeong JB Kim: Adiponectin represses colon cancer cell proliferation via AdipoR1- and -R2-mediated AMPK activation. *Mol Endocrinol* 24, 1441-1452 (2010)
- 142. Byeon JS, JY Jeong, MJ Kim, SM Lee, WH Nam, SJ Myung, JG Kim, SK Yang, JH Kim DJ Suh: Adiponectin and adiponectin receptor in relation to colorectal cancer progression. *Int J Cancer* (2010)
- 143. Barb D, CJ Williams, AK Neuwirth CS Mantzoros: Adiponectin in relation to malignancies: a review of existing basic research and clinical evidence. *Am J Clin Nutr* 86, s858-866 (2007)
- 144. Kelesidis I, T Kelesidis CS Mantzoros: Adiponectin and cancer: a systematic review. *Br J Cancer* 94, 1221-1225 (2006)
- 145. Wei EK, E Giovannucci, CS Fuchs, WC Willett CS Mantzoros: Low Plasma Adiponectin Levels and Risk of Colorectal Cancer in Men: A Prospective Study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 97, 1688-1694 (2005)
- 146. Lukanova A, S Soderberg, R Kaaks, E Jellum P Stattin: Serum adiponectin is not associated with risk of colorectal cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 15, 401-402 (2006)
- 147. Pajvani UB, M Hawkins, TP Combs, MW Rajala, T Doebber, JP Berger, JA Wagner, M Wu, A Knopps, AH Xiang, KM Utzschneider, SE Kahn, JM Olefsky, TA Buchanan PE Scherer: Complex distribution, not absolute amount of adiponectin, correlates with thiazolidinedionemediated improvement in insulin sensitivity. *J Biol Chem* 279, 12152-12162 (2004)
- 148. Larsson SC A Wolk: Obesity and colon and rectal cancer risk: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Am J Clin Nutr* 86, 556-565 (2007)
- 149. Clendenen TV, KL Koenig, RE Shore, M Levitz, AA Arslan A Zeleniuch-Jacquotte: Postmenopausal levels of endogenous sex hormones and risk of colorectal cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 18, 275-281 (2009)
- 150. Paz-Filho G, EL Lim, ML Wong J Licinio: Associations between adipokines and obesity-related cancer. *Front Biosci* 16, 1634-1650 (2011)
- 151. Suzuki K, Y Ito, K Wakai, M Kawado, S Hashimoto, H Toyoshima, M Kojima, S Tokudome, N Hayakawa, Y Watanabe, K Tamakoshi, S Suzuki, K Ozasa A Tamakoshi:

- Serum oxidized low-density lipoprotein levels and risk of colorectal cancer: a case-control study nested in the Japan Collaborative Cohort Study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 13, 1781-1787 (2004)
- 152. Bras A, R Sanches, L Cristovao, P Fidalgo, C Chagas, J Mexia, N Leitao J Rueff: Oxidative stress in familial adenomatous polyposis. *Eur J Cancer Prev* 8, 305-310 (1999)
- 153. Gackowski D, Z Banaszkiewicz, R Rozalski, A Jawien R Olinski: Persistent oxidative stress in colorectal carcinoma patients. *Int J Cancer* 101, 395-397 (2002)
- 154. Leufkens A, F van Duijnhoven, S Woudt, P Siersema, M Jenab, E Jansen, T Pischon, A Tjønneland, A Olsen, K Overvad, MC Boutron-Ruault, F Clavel-Chapelon, S Morois, D Palli, V Pala, R Tumino, P Vineis, S Panico, R Kaaks, A Lukanova, H Boeing, K Aleksandrova, A Trichopoulou, D Trichopoulos V, Dilis, PH Peeters, G Skeie, C González, M Argüelles, M-J Sánchez, M Dorronsoro, JM Huerta Castaño, E Ardanaz, G Hallmans, R Palmqvist, K-T Khaw, N Wareham, NE Allen, FL Crowe V, Fedirko, T Norat, E Riboli, HB Bueno-de-Mesquita. Biomarkers of oxidative stress and risk of developing colorectal cancer: a cohort-nested case-control study in the EPIC study. *Am J Epidemiol* in press (2011).
- 155. Tsilidis KK, KJ Helzlsouer, MW Smith, V Grinberg, J Hoffman-Bolton, SL Clipp, K Visvanathan EA Platz: Association of common polymorphisms in IL10, and in other genes related to inflammatory response and obesity with colorectal cancer. *Cancer Causes Control* 20, 1739-1751 (2009)
- 156. Siemes C, LE Visser, JW Coebergh, TA Splinter, JC Witteman, AG Uitterlinden, A Hofman, HA Pols BH Stricker: C-reactive protein levels, variation in the C-reactive protein gene, and cancer risk: the Rotterdam Study. *J Clin Oncol* 24, 5216-5222 (2006)
- 157. Allin KH, BG Nordestgaard, J Zacho, A Tybjaerg-Hansen SE Bojesen: C-reactive protein and the risk of cancer: a mendelian randomization study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 102, 202-206 (2010)
- 158. Vrieling A E Kampman: The role of body mass index, physical activity, and diet in colorectal cancer recurrence and survival: a review of the literature. *Am J Clin Nutr* 92, 471-490 (2010)
- 159. Moon HG, YT Ju, CY Jeong, EJ Jung, YJ Lee, SC Hong, WS Ha, ST Park SK Choi: Visceral obesity may affect oncologic outcome in patients with colorectal cancer. *Annals of surgical oncology* 15, 1918-1922 (2008)
- 160. Haydon AM, RJ Macinnis, DR English GG Giles: Effect of physical activity and body size on survival after diagnosis with colorectal cancer. *Gut* 55, 62-67 (2006)
- 161. Ashrafian H, K Ahmed, SP Rowland, VM Patel, NJ Gooderham, E Holmes, A Darzi T Athanasiou: Metabolic

- surgery and cancer: protective effects of bariatric procedures. *Cancer* 117, 1788-1799 (2011)
- 162. Adams TD SC Hunt: Cancer and obesity: effect of bariatric surgery. World J Surg 33, 2028-2033 (2009)
- 163. Renehan AG: Bariatric surgery, weight reduction, and cancer prevention. *L*ancet *Oncol* 10, 640-641 (2009)
- 164. Adams TD, RE Gress, SC Smith, RC Halverson, SC Simper, WD Rosamond, MJ Lamonte, AM Stroup SC Hunt: Long-term mortality after gastric bypass surgery. *N Engl J Med* 357, 753-761 (2007)
- 165. Sjostrom L, K Narbro, CD Sjostrom, K Karason, B Larsson, H Wedel, T Lystig, M Sullivan, C Bouchard, B Carlsson, C Bengtsson, S Dahlgren, A Gummesson, P Jacobson, J Karlsson, AK Lindroos, H Lonroth, I Naslund, T Olbers, K Stenlof, J Torgerson, G Agren LM Carlsson: Effects of bariatric surgery on mortality in Swedish obese subjects. N Engl J Med 357, 741-752 (2007)
- 166. Christou NV, M Lieberman, F Sampalis JS Sampalis: Bariatric surgery reduces cancer risk in morbidly obese patients. *Surg Obes Relat Dis* 4, 691-695 (2008)
- 167. McCawley GM, JS Ferriss, D Geffel, CJ Northup SC Modesitt: Cancer in obese women: potential protective impact of bariatric surgery. *J Am Coll Surg* 208, 1093-1098 (2009)
- 168. Renehan AG, I Soerjomataram, M Tyson, M Egger, M Zwahlen, JW Coebergh I Buchan: Incident cancer burden attributable to excess body mass index in 30 European countries. *Int J Cancer* 126, 692-702 (2010)
- 169. Calle EE R Kaaks: Overweight, obesity and cancer: epidemiological evidence and proposed mechanisms. *Nat Rev Cancer* 4, 579-591 (2004)
- 170. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Obesity Education Initiative. Clinical Guidelines on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults: The Evidence Report. NIH Publication No. 98-4083. National Institutes of Health, Bethesda (1998)
- 171. Moghaddam AA, M Woodward R Huxley: Obesity and risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of 31 studies with 70,000 events. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 16, 2533-2547 (2007)
- 172. Renehan AG, M Tyson, M Egger, RF Heller M Zwahlen: Body-mass index and incidence of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. *Lancet* 371, 569-578 (2008)
- 173. Guh DP, W Zhang, N Bansback, Z Amarsi, CL Birmingham AH Anis: The incidence of co-morbidities related to obesity and overweight: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health* 9, 88 (2009)

Key Words: Obesity, Colorectal cancer, Body mass index, Abdominal adiposity, Review

Send correspondence to: Tobias Pischon, Molecular Epidemiology Group, Max Delbrueck Center for Molecular Medicine, MDC, Berlin-Buch, Robert-Roessle-Strasse 10, 13125 Berlin, Germany, Tel: 49-30-9406-4563, Fax: 49-30 9406-4576, E-mail: tobias.pischon@mdc-berlin.de